

~~The Examination of Integration of Inclusive Education in Private Pre-Primary Schools: A Case of Lilongwe Urban City~~

Comment [PS1]: Indicating the country name will add to clarity of focus

Abstract

The focus of this article is to examine the integration of inclusive education in private pre-schools in the urban setting of Lilongwe city in Malawi. Both qualitative and quantitative approaches were used to explore the implementation of inclusive education based on Bronfenbrenner's social ecological theory. In-depth, interviews and an observation checklist were used to collect data from a purposively selected sample of 31 participants. Quantitative data was collected using a 5-point Likert scale questionnaire from a sample of 25 private preschool teachers, and 6 educational administrators from 31 selected schools. Document analysis was used to confirm the application of inclusive education policies. Among the results of the study, include the major revelation is that most private pre-schools do not understand the need for implementation of inclusive education and therefore do not implement inclusive education in the schools at all. Very few schools integrate include students with special needs into their schools denying some children with disabilities to access education. Coupled with a lack of a consistence, and harmonized curriculum, several private pre-schools do not take the initiative to include special needs interventions in their schools. Further, most schools have no suitable infrastructures to enable the integration of students with special needs in their school environments. Most schools do not have specially designed school infrastructure but rather use residential homes that have now been turned into schools for school operations. While private schools are meant to complement the government's efforts and contribute toward the goals of education in Malawi, most private schools have emphasized the business model, rendering schools to ignore some of the educational outcomes for the nation. Finally, but not least among the factors, another critical common characteristic among private pre-schools is the lack of clear application of policies in place to ensure the implementation of inclusive education.

Comment [PS2]: Maybe implementation, introduction, practice etc.

Comment [PS3]: By the way the term data is plural

Comment [PS4]: So from how many were qualitative data collected?

Comment [PS5]: Really!!!

Comment [PS6]: This is an out-dated version of inclusive education

Comment [PS7]: Are not repeating?

Comment [PS8]: Revisit

Comment [PS9]: Include conclusions and recommendations

Keywords: Inclusive Education; policy; infrastructure; harmonized curriculum; mainstreaming

Introduction

Approximately one billion people currently live with disabilities, out of the total number as highlighted by James (2018), one in every ten, is a child, and more than 80 % of the population is believed to live in low-income countries. Moreover, more than 53 million children under the age of 5 have varying special needs with about 95 % living in low-income countries (Le Fanu et al., 2022).

Comment [PS10]: Capture the implications of the study.

The ramifications of disability are widespread causing several children to remain home without going to school, depriving them of an opportunity to access education, making disability one of the highest factors affecting negatively the ability of children to access education (Chataika & Hlatywayo, 2022). To mitigate the impacts of the disability of children on the personal life and the wider spectrum, most countries have aligned with the sustainable developmental goals that aim at increasing the opportunities of people with disabilities by 2030 together with other frameworks on inclusive education. Goal number 4 of the sustainable development goals highlights the need for inclusive education and equitable quality education for all emphasizing the need not to leave everyone behind in the quest to attain education (Kawatu et al., 2022).

The term disability may be used differently in different settings. Sometimes the term disability is used interchangeably to refer to people with special needs (Azzahra et al., 2022). On the other hand, the term disability is adopted from the United Nations Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities (UNCRPD) (Ardington et al., 2021). Article 1 of the UNCRPD highlights that people with disabilities include those with physical, mental, intellectual, or other impairments that may limit full participation in the social setting based on equal access with others. Another important mention of the need for inclusive education is found in Article 24 of the same UNCRPD. While article 24 of the UNCRPD does not specifically refer to the people with disabilities, it does make mention of the 'right to education' and therefore prohibits the discrimination to education. Further, Article 23 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) promotes the need for the rights of children with disabilities. It is therefore imperative that duty bearers at all levels take serious consideration in the implementation of inclusive education.

Disability is cited as one of the factors contributing to the disadvantage in the participation of learners with disabilities in schools (Nazarova, 2020). On the other hand, inclusive education has multi-faceted advantages that offer children opportunities in the end when they are included as part of the main education system.

Akbarovna (2022) has asserted that one of the myriad advantages of inclusive education includes is the promotion of a child's productivity which in turn helps to alleviate poverty. In addition, when a learner with disabilities attends school, household members who normally take turns to look after disabled members of the family, have time to concentrate on other productive activities. In turn, children with disabilities are empowered and therefore there is a decreased opportunity for a future dependency on others when they engage in education.

Literature review

The UN Declaration on Education for All (UNESCO, 1990) highlights that education has the propensity to enable a safe environment, a healthier, and more thriving environment, and a sound world, at the same time contributing to processes such as social, economic cultural, and international processes. It is therefore notable that an education system should assume the responsibility to facilitate the notion of social justice by ensuring the promotion of equitable and quality education based on the premise of fairness and inclusion referred to as inclusive education. This is also aligned with the demand for social justice that promotes the rights of children to education (Gunn & Bennett, 2022).

Inclusive education

The concept of inclusive education has stimulated much debate and interest over the past decade in several nations. Inclusive education must be operationalized at the 'shop floor' level of an education system to bear lasting results at an advanced level of education. Many scholars Akbarovna (2022), Le Fanu (2022), Chirwa (2021a), and Amor (2019) have defined inclusive education as an undertaking in the education system that aims to respond to the varying needs of learners by ensuring the elimination of elements within and outside the education systems, that exclude or limit the participation of some learners. One of the important elements in the implementation of education is access. Access is therefore implied to refer that all children have the chance to participate in the education process. As highlighted by Madani (2019) education must give the opportunity and chance to children regardless of the characteristics they have to participate in the educational environment. The reality of what constitutes access, participation,

Comment [PS11]: Regulate paragraphing

Comment [PS12]: Express the focus and organisation of the manuscript.

Comment [PS13]: What about the Incheon Declaration 2015 etc?

Comment [PS14]: Explain in context

and inclusion could look different for different schools, different education levels, and different students even across different systems of education (Le Fanu et al., 2022).

Exclusion

The direct opposite of inclusion is exclusion. Exclusion is the process that categorizes children into streams that naturally disadvantage others (Cooley et al., 2019). As Dobusch (2021) observed, some direct practices that exclude children in their learning institutions are subtle and do not present themselves visibly. Nevertheless, the ramification that renders inequalities and exclusions for children with special needs are far-reaching as they tend to affect the long-term aspirations of those affected and negatively affect the implementation of inclusive education (Lin et al., 2018).

Advantages of inclusive education

Several research studies have favored the implementation of IE due to its widespread benefits for students (Akbarovna, 2022). There are positive outcomes for learners both academically and socially when they participate in inclusive education. There are also benefits for the school and teachers when implementing inclusive education. Moreover, there are long-term benefits for the students when included in the inclusive setting, especially when engaged from the earliest stages of personal development (Black et al., 2020). Inclusive education exposes learners to diversity at an early stage, and this helps the learners appreciate diversity in life even when they grow up and start to face life on their own (Le Fanu et al., 2022). In other settings, inclusive education has the propensity to promote the employability of learners at a later stage and contributes to the reduction of inequalities both in social and economic setups. Moreover, inclusive education, as advocated by Ainscow (2020), leads to better societies by ensuring that all members of society have a better chance of accessing opportunities in their societies.

Malawi context

The concept of inclusive education is not a 'new kid on the block'. Malawi has adopted several frameworks that are meant to promote inclusive education in schools. Several studies have been conducted on inclusive education in schools (Chirwa et al., 2021a, de Souza, 2020a, Chimwaza, 2016, Chitiyo et al., n.d.). However, there is still a dearth of information on the implementation of inclusive education in private pre-schools in Malawi. Similar studies in inclusive education have also concentrated on the implementation of inclusive education in primary schools, secondary schools, and Community Child Based Care Centres (CBCCs) (de Souza, 2020a).

The responsibility to implement inclusive education in pre-schools in Malawi is vested in the Social Welfare Department under the Ministry of Gender Children and, Disability and Social Welfare. This Ministry also works hand in hand with the Ministry of Education and the Department of Disability and elderly affairs, which has the responsibility for the interventions for children with disabilities in Malawi. Over the years, Malawi went through reforms in government policies where early learning and development were validated, and integrated as the core part of the education system (de Souza, 2020a). The nascent early childhood development policy among its proponents promotes the full development of early childhood learning centers to ensure the full potential development of children (Banks et al., 2022). Further, it recognizes the infrastructure of early development institutions including the availability of resources, and well-trained teachers as critical to the advancement of preschools (Chirwa et al., 2021b).

Comment [PS15]: Avoid too many subheadings. Concisely dwell with everything on inclusive education under one comprehensive subheading.

Comment [PS16]: Avoid idioms in academic research

There are mixed views on the role of preschools in Malawi, with other studies viewing pre-primary education as another phase of learning in the education cycle (Taniguchi, 2022). Some of the national policies propose the need to perceive and view preschool as an important phase in the education of the nation in general (Gelli et al., 2020). According to Dewey(2023),

Education is not just preparation for Life. Education is life in itself

Comment [PS17]: Why centre and Italicise?

Therefore, preschool education is an important phase that promotes the development of salient potential among children. As such, children with disabilities may be affected greatly if not integrated during this important phase of learning. In the same vein, the standards set in the accompanying policy documents in Malawi emphasize the expectation of ensuring that children, despite their condition or social characteristics (disabled, rich, poor, urban, rural have the right to education(McIntosh, 2023). This implies that all children in Malawi regardless of where they are found or their level of education are expected to achieve an optimal standard of education.

Just like other countries, despite the standards put in place, the World Bank Gelli (2020), reports poor quality of teaching professionals in early learning centers, especially in rural areas. Their lack of data on the status of qualifications of teachers in private schools could also. However, as the operating environment is the same it could also be deduced that the state of affairs is more likely to be the same.

Comment [PS18]: Specify

The implementation of inclusive education in private pre-primary schools is therefore based on the consensus that all learners, regardless of their disability or special need, should access education together with their counterparts without disabilities (E. Arslan, 2021). According to Berman-Bieler (2023), every child deserves an education no matter who, where, and what. Among the strategies that are used to allow children with disabilities to access, education includes therefore inclusive education. Inclusive education is the kind of education that incorporates learners in the school settings together with children without special needs education rather than allowing learners with disabilities to access education in separate segregated schools(Akbarovna, 2022). As highlighted by Gayelle(2023),

Protecting children's rights including the right to education, is not only a moral imperative but also a strategic investment in the future wellbeing, equality, and prosperity of individuals and society. It is the responsibility that governments, communities, and individuals must take seriously to create a better world for current and future generations.

Comment [PS19]: Malawi has an inclusive education policy! What does it say?

The need for change

While there are several reforms and changes in the policies and goodwill in the promotion of inclusive education in Malawi and beyond, much of what is supposed to be done to ensure that inclusive education becomes a reality rests in the authority of the school management and owners. There is so much that needs to be done to translate policies into actions. As highlighted by Chimwaza(2016), Malawi is still struggling with most of its interventions in the implementation of education despite calls arising from both local and international avenues to align education with development. It is therefore important to study the implementation of inclusive education in private pre-schools in Malawi.

Comment [PS20]: Outline or exemplify

The Bronfenbrenner ecological systems theory

Comment [PS21]: Indicate as a theoretical framework

This study applies Bronfenbrenner's theory to study the implementation of inclusive education in private pre-schools. As highlighted by Le Fanu (2022), inclusive education enables learners to be included in the environment in which they belong. Therefore, a relationship already exists between the learner and the environment. The social ecological theory put forward by Bronfenbrenner enables us to look at the relationship that exists between the learner and the environment (Martínez-Andrés et al., 2020)

Bronfenbrenner's social ecological theory put forward two determinants of students learning in the form of the learner and the environment where the learners find themselves. The other elements at play are the relationship and the connection between them, and these form the framework known as the ecological system theory (Uskul & Oishi, 2020).

Bronfenbrenner's ecological system theory recognizes that child development is one of the complex systems of intertwined relationships that is influenced by happenings in the surrounding environment, the family, and the school including encompassing culture, laws, and traditions. The theory has some parallels to other theories of Albert Bandura's social learning theory and Lev Vygotsky's social-cultural theory. In all these theories, the environment is considered to have a bearing on the mechanisms involved in the development of a child (Uskul & Oishi, 2020).

The theory suggests that the environment surrounding the child is arranged in structures called microsystems, mesosystems, ecosystems, macrosystems, and chronosystems. These systems are said to be interrelated and influence one structure on the child's development.

The Microsystem

In the microsystem, the relationship that the child has with the environment is bi-directional. It means therefore that it is possible for a child to influence the environment and at the same time the environment to influence the child. The interaction in the microsystem is often personal and such a relationship is very crucial in supporting the child's development (Crawford, 2020). A strong fostering relationship with the environment, for example, teachers tend to have positive effects on the child while an indifferent and unaffected environment leads to the production of harmful effects on the child.

The Mesosystem

Through the mesosystem, the individual's microsystems work with other interconnected influences while affecting the child. As asserted by Widiawan (2020), a mesosystem is a system of microsystems. Through the mesosystem, a child's microsystem is influenced by another environment to influence the child's development. As highlighted by Bradford (2021), Teachers and parents could work hand in hand to influence the child's development. On the other hand, The bad relationship that can exist between teachers and parents can have far-reaching repercussions on the development of the child.

Exosystem

The exosystemic encompasses the formal and informal structures in the social setup, which in themselves do not surround the child but indirectly affect one of the microsystems. Such structures may include schools' external stakeholders, parents' friends, and the media. While such environments may not have a direct effect on the child, however, their effect on one of the microsystems may affect negatively the child's development

The macrosystems

The macrosystem is the component that looks at how cultural elements have a bearing on the development of the child. These include already established society including a culture where the child is found while developing. Such elements may include social status, wealth ethnicity, and poverty, geographical location. Children living in low-income country has a different environment to those living in developed countries (Widyawan et al., 2020).

The chronosystem

This is the final level structure of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory. In this final and fifth level, the structure of the theory encompasses all changes that occur in the environment over a child's lifetime that have a bearing on the development of the child. This change includes starting school, having parents divorced, or moving to a new location or a new house.

Methodology

The study aimed to examine the integration of inclusive education in private pre-primary schools in the urban setting of Lilongwe in Malawi. The focus of the research was on the study of the current adaptations and activities on private pre-school environment, and the integration of inclusive education. The study used mixed research methods, capitalizing on the strengths of both quantitative and qualitative research approaches. In-depth, interviews and an Observation checklist were used to collect data from a purposively selected sample of 31 participants. Quantitative data was collected using a 5-point Likert scale questionnaire from a sample of 25 preschool teachers, and 6 Educational administrators from 31 selected schools. Document analysis was also used to confirm the application of inclusive education policies.

The data collected was coded and cleaned, quantitative data was analyzed using SPSS while qualitative data was analyzed using thematic data analyses and document analysis.

Specifically, the research question for the study is:

1. What inclusive adaptations have been made in private pre-schools to promote inclusive education? inclusion of?

Findings

RQ 1 What inclusive adaptations have been made in private pre-schools to promote inclusive education

Comment [PS22]: Express the framework more concisely (1 or 2 paragraphs) without having to indicate all these subheadings. Show how the framework relates to the topic of the study.

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [PS23]: Which specific design did you use

Comment [PS24]: Edit

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Quantitative findings- Use tables

Table 1: descriptive statistics for the results

Descriptive Statistics

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Gender	31	1	2	1.48	.508
Age	31	1	4	2.19	.946
Experience	31	1	3	1.87	.718
Are the bathrooms/washrooms appropriate	31	1	4	1.58	.886
Is the learning climate-friendly (Inclusiveness)	31	1	4	1.35	.755
Does the school use the appropriate Curriculum	31	1	3	1.39	.667
Does the school have appropriate Infrastructure for inclusive learning	31	1	4	1.39	.761
Does the school have an inclusive Environment	31	1	4	1.94	1.209
Does the school have well- qualified	31	1	4	2.03	1.016
How much involved in the government	30	1	4	1.57	.971
Does the school use government policies in the implementation of inclusive education	31	1	4	1.58	.923
Does the school have qualified education professionals to implement inclusive education	31	1	4	1.81	1.108
Do the school get support from the government	31	1	4	1.94	1.389
Valid N (listwise)	30				

Comment [PS25]: The 5-point Likert scale not clear. What are the maximum and minimum values all about? What does gender have to do with this study?

Qualitative findings

Table 2: Codes for the research participants

School	Participant	Code
A	Female teacher	AF 1
B	Female teacher	AF 2
C	Male teacher	AM1
D	Proprietor	AP1

The results of the study include the revelation that most private pre-schools do not understand the need for implementation of inclusive education and therefore do not implement inclusive education in the schools at all. Very few schools integrate students with special needs in their schools. Coupled with a lack of a consistent, harmonized curriculum, several private pre-schools cannot take the initiative to include special needs interventions in their schools. Further, most schools have no suitable infrastructures to enable the integration of students with special needs in their school environments. Most schools do not have specially designed school infrastructures but rather use residential homes turned into schools for school operations. While private schools are meant to contribute toward the goals of education in Malawi, most private schools have emphasized the business model rendering schools to ignore some of the educational outcomes for the nation. Finally, another critical common characteristic among the private pre-schools is the lack of clear application of policies in place to ensure the implementation of inclusive education.

Different schools use different curricula including a selection of snippets of the curricula used. One of the proprietors had to say that:

My choice of the curriculum is based on how easily I can implement the curriculum(AP1).

Discussions

The results from the study reveal that there is more that needs to be done to ensure the implementation of inclusive education in private pre-schools in Malawi. This is consistent with Chirwa (2021b) who highlights that despite some efforts in the implementation of inclusive education in Malawi, barriers still hinder the implementation. A huge gap exists in the implementation of education in private pre-schools. There is a dire need for urgent attention in the school system to allow the implementation of inclusive education. The study looked at several factors that are necessary for the implementation of inclusive education including the school curriculum, involvement of the government, teacher qualification, policy implementation, and general observation by the researcher (Chirwa et al., 2021b).

School Curriculum

The study revealed that there is no harmonization of the curriculum in private pre-schools. 5 out of the 31 schools use the Montessori curriculum, 10 use a combination of Montessori and Cambridge and 10 use the local curriculum. The adoption and use of the curriculum is based on the preference of the proprietors. This alone already defeats the goal of education, as 98% of the school proprietors do not qualify for education. The rest of the schools use a combination of what is relevant for them based on the state of the school. This makes schools miss the critical areas necessary for the implementation of inclusive education. The curriculum is located in the microsystem based on Bronfenbrenner's theory. According to Gunio (2021), a curriculum with activities that are child-initiated can have long-term bearing on the child. In addition, Fredriksson

Comment [PS26]: Do teachers choose a curriculum or it is prescribed?

Comment [PS27]: Align discussion with the research question

Comment [PS28]: What question was asked? What does the prescribed curriculum offer instead?

(2020) highlights that a curriculum that deliberately integrates children with special needs would allow the school to easily incus children with varying needs to fully participate in the process of teaching and learning. The lack of harmonization of the curricula and use of curriculum based on the preferences of the owner naturally excludes the salient activities necessary for the inclusion of learners with various needs in the process of teaching and learning. One of the teachers highlighted that:

Our school curriculum does not have activities on inclusive education. Much of what we do is aimed at helping children who do not have special needs (AF2)

Comment [PS29]: Sounds biased

A curriculum that has an emphasis on children allows children to participate and not just be considered passive recipients of instructional materials (Fredriksson et al., 2020). As highlighted by mrsstrickey(2021), for a curriculum to be effective, it should enable teachers, students, school leaders, and communities around with the ability to deliver quality education, a trait that is conspicuously missing in most private preschools. The lack of a harmonized and appropriate curriculum deprives learners of the core competencies, and standards critical for advancement to the next stage of their lives. As a result, the implementation of inclusive education is extensively affected negatively.

Comment [PS30]: Start by stating your own findings

Infrastructures,

Located in the microsystem, infrastructure plays a significant role in the success of inclusive education. From the results of the study, not all 31 schools of schools have school structures that were specifically designed to be used for school purposes. In addition, the structures used did not have specific adaptations to the design to allow the implementation of inclusive education. All 31 schools have omitted the need to adapt the infrastructures to allow for inclusive education (Chirwa et al., 2021b). This is lamentable as there are calls both from within and internationally to support inclusive education (de Souza, 2020b). All 31 schools use residential households that have been turned into learning environments as this is deemed the easy option to start implementing pre-school as a business.

The results of the study found that only 2 schools out of the sampled 31 schools accommodated students with special needs (autism) in their schools. The schools have special rooms where such learners are given extra lessons to help them participate in the teaching and learning process. While the presence of infrastructure is not the panacea to inclusive education Azzahra (2022) infrastructure is essential in the implementation of inclusive education as it allows students with disabilities to easily integrate. It also gives parents and guardians of the students to allow their children to participate in the teaching and learning process.

Comment [PS31]: Specify

Lack of involvement by the government in the affairs of the private schools

Comment [PS32]: Avoid biased questioning

The role of the government in the regulation of private schools falls in the macrosystems. Private schools in Lilongwe operate under an association that only convenes based on planned events to deliberate on the plight of the school. However, the association has no direct mandate and authority to check the practical details of the operations of the schools. This therefore allows private preschools to operate under their terms. The Government of Malawi which is supposedly to be the overarching institution in the monitoring of the operations of private school do not supervise the schools. The schools are not accountable to the government, at least during the study period, and this leaves the schools with their mandate to implement what seems to be the best options for the schools, which is the business.

Comment [PS33]: Explicate

Comment [PS34]: Revisit and edit

One teacher commented that

I have not seen any government official coming to this school since I started teaching 3 years ago at this institution. Sometimes I wonder if the government has any interest in the affairs of the school. However, I am not surprised much since this is a private school (AM1).

There is a need for monitoring and enforcement of regulations for education institutions including preschools to adopt and align their activities with the aspirations of the nations (United Nations Educational & Organization (UNESCO), 2020). Since all 31 private schools run on a business model basis, most do not have policies in place to promote inclusive education thereby defeating the efforts for inclusive education.

Lack of trained teachers to handle children with special needs

Teachers who are critical in the implementation of inclusive education at different levels from the pre-schools up to high-level fall in the mesosystem. Chitiyo (n.d.) highlights that teachers are a vehicle in the process of teaching and learning and their role cannot be overemphasized. Unfortunately, most private schools operate with unqualified teachers in the teaching and learning process. Unqualified teachers in the teaching process make things worse and do more harm to the learning process. Generally, unqualified teachers do not empathize with learners. They are very likely to neglect sections of learners that have learning difficulties including those with special needs at this requires handling skills from the teachers (Bradford et al., 2021). One of the school owners highlighted that it is not possible to employ graduates to teach in school because such staff would require higher pay and that would in turn the profits realized from the school since the schools operate on the business model. Moreover, most graduates think teaching in preschools is beneath their standards (A. Arslan, 2019).

Policy implementation

Policy issues fall in the macrosystem category of Bronfenbrenner, theory. Policy implementation and adherence is one of the critical areas not being adhered to because of the lack of monitoring by the government in private pre-schools in Malawi. In All 31 schools where data was collected, it was cited that they have not been monitored supervised, or guided by the central government in the implementation of pre-school education. This creates a huge gap among the implementers and therefore leads to most private pre-schools following activities that seem relevant and easy to implement the school. The lack of monitoring by the government therefore leaves a huge gap in the education policy implementation in private preschools that negatively affects the implementation of inclusive education (Berman-Bieler et al., 2023).

Observations

Observations by the researcher revealed that all 31 private pre-schools where the research was conducted were not ready to fully ready to integrate learners with disabilities. From the infrastructure of the schools to the qualifications of teachers, the type of curricula used, and the type of learning activities, some gaps naturally excluded learners with disabilities. Moreover, the schools did not make extra effort to make salient changes to the surrounding, and infrastructure to accommodate learners with special needs. There were no special pavements to allow children with disabilities to move around freely. In addition, there were no materials readily available in the schools to use as compared to other students. The materials commonly found in the schools were generic and some were not specific for learners, let alone those that can be used by learners with special needs.

Comment [PS35]: Are you referring to specialist or inclusive education teachers or what? What are the numbers?

Comment [PS36]: Which specific Malawi Education policies are you referring to?

Formatted: Highlight

More than 90% of private schools cannot afford to employ more teachers with the right qualifications, about 95% of teachers in all 31 schools lacked proper qualifications, let alone special needs qualifications to handle learners with special needs. Teachers entrusted to teach are mostly those with lower qualifications who are in turn paid lowly. While this is advantageous to the school owners, the quality of education is greatly affected. Moreover, the implementation of inclusive education is negatively affected; as such, teachers do not have the requisites to handle learners with special needs.

Comment [PS37]: More specific examples necessary

Recommendations

~~The evidence of~~ Evidence from the study reveals that there is more that needs to be done to make inclusive education a reality at the lowest and earliest education system levels. As the learners attain complex instructions, they soon transition from the pre-schools into the mainstream school system and eventually into society. There is a need for mechanisms to be put in place by the government and all connected stakeholders including the owners of schools to shift from the philosophy of business to providing education holistically to complement the aspirations of the nation. A little adaptation to the activities of the schools can have a lasting impact on the lives of children with special needs in the private preschool.

Further, there is a need for the government to be proactive in the enforcement of the policies on inclusive education. Private schools have been left to operate on an 'autopilot mode'. Almost every corner of the urban setting has a private preschool. The government should be proactive in the registration of private pre-schools and further make the effort to inspect each school operating within a certain locality. This will enable the government to check and monitor what each school is doing. The government will also have the mandate to guide the implementation of inclusive education thereby making private pre-schools proactive in the implementation of inclusive education in their settings. Moreover, the implementation of inclusive education at the earliest stage will help learners to appreciate inclusive education leading to acceptance of inclusive education initiatives at later stages of personal development.

Conclusion

Inclusive education has myriad benefits when implemented successfully at an earliest stage of development of a child. The responsibility to integrate inclusive education rests in every bonafide citizen of a nation. It is the responsibility of everyone to ensure that the schools integrate inclusive education into their school activities. Parents as well as communities should take responsibility to ensure that their wards with special needs are introduced to the right educational setting at an early age.

References

Comment [PS38]: Use consistent script and list only those which you read and cited

Ainscow, M. (2020). Promoting inclusion and equity in education: Lessons from international experiences. *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, 6(1), 7–16.

- Akbarovna, A. S. (2022). INCLUSIVE EDUCATION AND ITS ESSENCE. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SOCIAL SCIENCE & INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH* ISSN: 2277-3630 Impact Factor: 7.429, 11(01), 248–254.
- Amor, A. M., Hagiwara, M., Shogren, K. A., Thompson, J. R., Verdugo, M. Á., Burke, K. M., & Aguayo, V. (2019). International perspectives and trends in research on inclusive education: A systematic review. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 23(12), 1277–1295.
- Ardington, C., Wills, G., & Kotze, J. (2021). COVID-19 learning losses: Early grade reading in South Africa. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 86, 102480.
- Arslan, A. (2019). The mediating role of prospective teachers' teaching self-efficacy between self-efficacy sources and attitude towards the teaching profession. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, 5(1), 87–96.
- Arslan, E. (2021). Investigation of pre-school childrens' self-concept in terms of emotion regulation skill, behavior and emotional status. *Anales de Psicología/ Annals of Psychology*, 37(3), 508–515.
- Azzahra, I. M., Diana, R. R., Nirwana, E. S., Wiranata, R. R. S., & Andriani, K. M. (2022). Learning facilities and infrastructure based on the characteristics of Children with Special Needs in inclusive education. *Al-Athfaal: Jurnal Ilmiah Pendidikan Anak Usia Dini*, 5(2).
- Banks, L. M., Hunt, X., Kalua, K., Nindi, P., Zuurmond, M., & Shakespeare, T. (2022). 'I might be lucky and go back to school': Factors affecting inclusion in education for children with disabilities in rural Malawi. *African Journal of Disability (Online)*, 11, 1–12.
<https://doi.org/10.4102/ajod.v11i0.981>
- Berman-Bieler, R., Petroni, S., Abdi, O., & Wijesekera, S. (2023). UNICEF: A model for disability-inclusive policy and strategy. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*.
- Black, M. M., Trude, A. C., & Lutter, C. K. (2020). All children thrive: Integration of nutrition and early childhood development. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 40, 375–406.

- Bradford, B., Eblie Trudel, L., Katz, J., Sokal, L., & Loreman, T. (2021). Promising practices for preparing Canadian teachers for inclusive classrooms: Analysis through a transformative learning lens. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1–16.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2021.1882058>
- CHATAIKA, T., & HLATYWAYO, L. (2022). Examining the Implementation of Inclusive Education in Zimbabwe. *Disability Rights and Inclusiveness in Africa: The Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, Challenges and Change*, 44, 79.
- Chimwaza, E. S. (2016). *Challenges in Implementation of Inclusive Education in Malawi: A Case Study of Monfort Special Needs Education College and Selected Primary Schools in Blantyre* [Master's Thesis].
- Chirwa, G., Lingolwe, F., & Naidoo, D. (2021a). AN INVESTIGATION OF SCHOOL-BASED CHALLENGES FACING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF INCLUSIVE EDUCATION IN THE PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN MALAWI: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN ZOMBA DISTRICT. *International Journal of Online and Distance Learning*, 1(1), 16–47.
- Chirwa, G., Lingolwe, F., & Naidoo, D. (2021b). AN INVESTIGATION OF SCHOOL-BASED CHALLENGES FACING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF INCLUSIVE EDUCATION IN THE PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN MALAWI: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN ZOMBA DISTRICT. *International Journal of Online and Distance Learning*, 1(1), Article 1. <https://doi.org/10.47604/ijodl.1316>
- Chitiyo, M., Hughes, E. M., Chitiyo, G., Changara, D. M., Itimu-Phiri, A., Haihambo, C., Taukeni, S. G., & Dzenga, C. G. (n.d.). *Exploring Teachers' Special and Inclusive Education Professional Development Needs in Malawi, Namibia, and Zimbabwe*. 15(1), 37.
- Cooley, S., Burkholder, A. R., & Killen, M. (2019). Social inclusion and exclusion in same-race and interracial peer encounters. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(11), 2440.

- Crawford, M. (2020). Ecological Systems theory: Exploring the development of the theoretical framework as conceived by Bronfenbrenner. *J Pub Health Issue Pract*, 4(2), 170.
- de Souza, B. (2020a). Assessing Pedagogical Practices Malawian Mainstream Secondary Teachers Interpret from National Policies and Strategies on Inclusive Education. *The Journal of Educational Studies*, 19, 43–62.
- de Souza, B. (2020b). Assessing Pedagogical Practices Malawian Mainstream Secondary Teachers Interpret from National Policies and Strategies on Inclusive Education. *The Journal of Educational Studies*, 19, 43–62.
- Dewey, J. (2023). *Democracy and education*.
- Dobusch, L. (2021). The inclusivity of inclusion approaches: A relational perspective on inclusion and exclusion in organizations. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 28(1), 379–396.
- Fredriksson, U., N. Kusanagi, K., Gougoulakis, P., Matsuda, Y., & Kitamura, Y. (2020). A comparative study of curriculums for education for sustainable development (ESD) in Sweden and Japan. *Sustainability*, 12(3), 1123.
- Gayelle, H. C. G. (2023). Worry Control in Education for People With Special Needs: The Case of Enko Cameroon in the Times of COVID-19. In *Perspectives on Stress and Wellness Management in Times of Crisis* (pp. 295–317). IGI Global.
- Gelli, A., Nguyen, P. H., Santacroce, M., Twalibu, A., Margolies, A., & Katundu, M. (2020). A community-based early childhood development center platform promoting diversified diets and food production increases the mean probability of adequacy of intake of preschoolers in Malawi: A cluster randomized trial. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 150(2), 350–355.
- Gunio, M. J. (2021). Determining the influences of a hidden curriculum on students' character development using the Illuminative Evaluation Model. *Journal of Curriculum Studies Research*, 3(2), 194–206.

- Gunn, A. A., & Bennett, S. V. (2022). Teachers as change agents: Social justice theory to practice. *Journal for Multicultural Education*.
- James, S. L., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., & Abdelalim, A. (2018). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*, 392(10159), 1789–1858.
- Kawatu, N., Wa Somwe, S., Ciccone, O., Mukanzu, M., Uluduz, D., Şaşmaz, T., Yalçın, B. N. B., Wöber, C., & Steiner, T. J. (2022). The prevalence of primary headache disorders in children and adolescents in Zambia: A schools-based study. *The Journal of Headache and Pain*, 23(1), 1–10.
- Le Fanu, G., Schmidt, E., & Virendrakumar, B. (2022). Inclusive education for children with visual impairments in sub-Saharan Africa: Realising the promise of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 91, 102574.
- Lin, Z., Yang, L., & Zhang, Z. (2018). To include, or not to include, that is the question: Disability digital inclusion and exclusion in China. *New Media & Society*, 20(12), 4436–4452.
- Madani, R. A. (2019). Analysis of Educational Quality, a Goal of Education for All Policy. *Higher Education Studies*, 9(1), 100–109.
- Martínez-Andrés, M., Bartolomé-Gutiérrez, R., Rodríguez-Martín, B., Pardo-Guijarro, M. J., Garrido-Miguel, M., & Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to leisure physical activity in children: A qualitative approach using the socio-ecological model. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(9), 3033.

- McIntosh, K. (2023). Schoolwide positive behavioural interventions and supports and human rights: Transforming our educational systems into levers for social justice. *International Journal of Developmental Disabilities*, 69(1), 5–12.
- mrsstrickey. (2021, November 30). *The Importance of Curriculum*. Teach With Mrs T. <https://www.teachwithmrsst.com/post/the-importance-of-curriculum>
- Nazarova, N. M. (2020). Comparative analysis of the inclusive education paradigm implementation in Russia and abroad. *Perspectives of Science & Education*, 44(2).
- Taniguchi, K. (2022). The impact of pre-primary education on primary student achievement: Evidence from SACMEQ III. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 1–19.
- United Nations Educational, S., & Organization (UNESCO), C. (2020). Global education monitoring report 2020: Inclusion and education: All means all. 92310038.
- Uskul, A. K., & Oishi, S. (2020). What is socio-ecological psychology? *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 32, 181–184.
- Widyawan, D., Ma'Mun, A., Rahely, B., & Hendrayana, Y. (2020). Parents of students with disabilities views in learning physical education in special needs school. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(4), 924A – 936.